CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSON

DEBRA S. FIELD

v.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2008-TS-00793-COA

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

Honorable Mark Duncan District Attorney P.O. Box 603 Philadelphia, MS 39350

Honorable Vernon Cotten Circuit Court Judge 205 East Main Street Carthage, MS 39051

Honorable Jim Hood Attorney General of MS P.O. Box 220 Jackson, MS 39205

> Debra S. Field APPELLANT

Edmund J. Phillips, Jr.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. The Court erred in sentencing Appellant, a first offender to the maximum confinement permitted by law, because the court did not realize that he had discretion to sentence Appellant to a lesser punishment.
 - 2. The Court erred in refusing jury instruction D-2.
- 3. A. The Court erred in overruling Appellant's objection to the state introducing evidence that Appellant was in possession of a marijuana cigarette and in denying the consequent motion for mistrial.
- 3. B. The Court erred in granting the state's request that the mistrial in the prior trial for invisibility of the jury to reach a verdict not be permitted in evidence.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Debra S. Field appeals her conviction from the Circuit Court of Newton County, Mississippi of the crime of feloniously possessing a Schedule II controlled substance, namely cocaine, more than .10 grams but less than 2 grams and sentence of a \$1,500.00 fine and confinement for a term of eight (8) years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

This case is a retrial of Appellant on the charge of possession of a small amount of cocaine. The first trial had ended in conviction of Appellant for misdemeanor possession of marijuana and a mistrial on the cocaine charge because of the inability of the jury to reach a verdict (c.p. 23).

After selection of the jury, the prosecution brought up in conference with the Court Appellant's counsel, out of the presence of the jury, its plans to introduce the cocaine into evidence.

Mr. Harris, counsel for Appellant, asked (T-34):

MR. HARRIS: Are y'all going to be able to get all the leafy green substance out of the bag?

MR. KILGORE: Probably not. MR. THAMES: Do all we can.

The discussion continued (T-35):

THE COURT: Let me see the bag as far as any evidence of leafy substance - -

MR. KILGORE: Your Honor, just be warned, it -- the bag is leaking little flakes of deteriorating marijuana.

THE COURT: All right.

MR. KILGORE: And what Shawn's talking about is, seeing this bag, there are flakes, because one of the bags busted since the last trial.

The discussion was consummated with the following (T-36):

MR. HARRIS: Your Honor, just don't want any issue of marijuana in this one.

THE COURT: All right. The Court, of course, will instruct - - not going to make 'em comment on it, but the Court has already been advised that the only issue is the cocaine. So I don't know any other way to do it, meaning I don't want to call attention to anything in front of the jury, so - -

MR. HARRIS: Right

A combined hearing out of the presence of the jury on the admissibility of a statement by Appellant and the legality of the roadblock (and validity of the search) and

the admissibility of results of the search including cocaine had been held at the prior trial. At the suggestion of the Court (T-36) and the request of the prosecutor, agreed to by Appellant's counsel, the Court decided not to rehear these matters but to make the hearing at the prior trial part of the present trial and insert it in the record of the present trial as if it had been reheard, apparently in the interest of judicial economy.

Newton County Sheriff's Department investigator, Toby Pinson testified at the hearing that his brother Jeremy Pinson, an officer with the Town of Hickory police department, was assisting him with a roadblock (T-40), that Appellant approached the roadblock in a truck and was stopped, that he smelled alcohol on Appellant's breath, that Appellant was not under the influence of alcohol so that the alcohol impaired her ability to understand Miranda warnings, that he went to her truck and removed a cigarette case from her purse sitting in the truck cab(T-42), while she was guarded by Jeremy Pinson, that he pulled a rolled cigarette from the case, that he suspected that the rolled cigarette was a marijuana cigarette, that later on he again looked in the case and saw what was apparently rock cocaine in the case (T-43), that Appellant admitted that the case belonged to her but denied that the cocaine was hers.

He further testified that he, Jeremy Pinson and Appellant, were the only persons present at the roadblock (T-44), that he (Toby Pinson) was not then a departmental supervisor. The Newton County Sheriff's Department Law Enforcement Policies and Procedures was admitted into evidence as an exhibit. Officer Pinson read from it (T-45,

- Q. Okay. Can you read what that is at the top there?
- A. "Newton County Sheriff's Department, Law Enforcement Policy and Procedures."
- Q. You had not been advised of that report?
- A. I haven't read it. No, sir.
- Q. And what's it dated?
- A. 26th of July, '05.
- Q. If you will under procedure attached there, read that first paragraph.
- A. Officer Safety Check Road Block."
- Q. Yes.
- A. "After the need has been determined, the Sheriff or his designated representative may plan and approve a safety check roadblock. A departmental supervisor must be present and control any safety check roadblock. His responsibilities while the roadblock is being conducted, including - insure that " - keep reading?
- Q. Yeah.
- A. "One, appoint an officer to act as a safety officer with the responsibility to constantly evaluate safety aspects of the operation. Two, necessarily warning lights or signs are provided. A, to provide early warning alert to oncoming motorists of roadblock, and B. Near enough to the checkpoint officers and patrol units can intercept those vehicles whose drivers are attempting to leave the scene."

He further testified that Deputy Sheriff Billy Pat Walker, a departmental supervisor, had authorized the roadblock but did not ever come to the location of the roadblock.

At the same hearing Jeremy Pinson testified only about the stop and statement that the cigarette case belonged to her, essentially echoing his brother's testimony.

Appellant's counsel objected to (T-54) admission of the statement testimony about the result of the search and the admission into evidence of the cocaine.

The Court overruled the objection and denied the motion to suppress.

In the trial of the case-in-chief, former Newton County Sheriff's investigator Toby Pinson testified for the State that on June 10, 2007 at 3:00 p.m. he had set up a "safety check" on McDonald Road (T-63) (apparently a roadblock checkpoint), when about 3:20 p.m. a truck driver by Appellant came up and was stopped. Pinson had been assisted by his brother Jeremy Pinson, an officer with the town of Hickory, Mississippi police department (T-40), but not a Sheriff's Department employee.

Apparently appellant was the only person stopped during the existence of the road block, because the Pinsons terminated its existence after Appellant was arrested.

Officer Toby Pinson testified that after he set up a safety and license checkpoint, Appellant was stopped driving a truck, that she had no driver's license, that she said the truck was not hers, that he smelled intoxicating beverage on her breath, that she gave him permission to search the truck, that Jeremy Pinson guarded her while Toby searched her purse which was in the vehicle, that a rolled cigarette was in plain view in a cigarette case (T-67), that he had believed the cigarette to be a marijuana joint.

No evidence was adduced that Appellant had been charged with DUI.

Appellant objected to the witness referring to her apparently having ingested alcohol and his objection was overruled (T-65, T-66). Appellant reiterated his objections, heard outside the presence of the jury and Pinson testified (T-67) that he found what he believed to be a marijuana cigarette in a cigarette case in the truck. Appellant objected and moved for a mistrial. The objection was overruled and the motion denied.

After Pinson completed his direct testimony, Appellant renewed his motion for a

mistrial (T-72, at seq.) and the motion was denied.

Keith McMahan, Mississippi Crime Lab forensic scientist testified (T-103) that the substance found by the Pinsons in the cigarette case was .38 grams of cocaine.

The State rested (T-106). Appellant renewed her motion for a mistrial, Appellant moved for a directed verdict and the trial court denied both.

Appellant testified for the defense that she and about other people had been camping along the Pearl River near Carthage, that her van broke down as she started to return home to Newton County, that she borrowed a truck from a neighbor to return home (T-112), that she had shared her cigarettes with other people at the campsite, that others had had her cigarette case in their possession for different periods of time, that the cocaine was not hers and she had not known that it was in the bottom of the case.

Appellant was convicted and sentenced.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

- 1. Sentencing should be proportionate to the crime and should be on exercise in discretion by the Court.
- 2. A defendant is entitled to a jury instruction which gives his or her theory of the case.
 - 3. A. Evidence of other crimes is inadmissible.
- 3. B. Introduction of a topic into evidence opens the door to permit introduction of other evidence on the topic.

4. A roadblock results in an unreasonable search if written directives on roadblock operation are not substantially followed.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE COURT ERRED IN SENTENCING APPELLANT, A FIRST OFFENDER TO THE MAXIMUM CONFINEMENT PERMITTED BY LAW, BECAUSE THE COURT DID NOT REALIZE THAT HE HAD DISCRETION TO SENTENCE APPELLANT TO A LESSER PUNISHMENT

Appellant, a first offender, was sentenced to eight years of confinement, the maximum period of confinement allowed for the crime of which she was convicted. Section 41-29-139(c)(1)(B), Mississippi Code of 1972 authorizes imprisonment for not less than two years nor more than eight years.

Sentencing is an exercise in discretion by the trial judge, whose discretion is broad. Where it is clear that he or she exercises no sentencing discretion, as where he or she routinely metes out the maximum sentence for a particular crime, appellate review is appropriate. U.S. v. Hurt, 488 F. 2d 970 (5th Cir. 1974), an inflexible sentencing policy based solely on the crime charged is not an exercise of informed judicial discretion. U.S. v. Hartford, 489 F. 2d 652, 656 (5th Cir. 194). A sentencing decision must be tailored to fit the offender and not merely the offense.

In the case before the Court, the sentencing Court made clear that he was not

exercising discretion (T-148):

I have no choice but to do this, and I sentence you to serve a terms of 8 years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections. Pay a fine of \$1,500.00 and all costs of Court.

The trial court's expressed opinion of its lack of choice was a denial that the sentence was the Court's exercise of discretion.

In Solem v. Helm, 463 U.S. 277, 103 S. Ct. 3001 (1983) the United States Supreme Court held "as a matter of principle that a criminal sentence must be proportionate to the crime for which the defendant has been convicted", in accord with the Eight Amendment protection against cruel and unusual punishment.

A sentence of the maximum period of confinement allowed, to a female fifty year old first offender, can not be proportionate to the crime.

Appellant should be resentenced to confinement more appropriate for a non-violent first offender, fifty years old.

II.

THE COURT ERRED IN REFUSING JURY INSTRUCTION D-2

In the case before the Court, the trial court refused jury instruction D-2, (T-124) which reads as follows:

The Court instructs the jury that the Defendant is a competent witness in his own behalf and his testimony should not be disregarded simply because he is the Defendant. The Defendant is clothed with the same mantel of credibility as all other witnesses that have testified before you and in considering your verdict, you are to give his testimony the same weight and credibility you would with any other witness in the light of the evidence.

This instruction is not duplicative of other instructions and is supported by the evidence. A defendant is entitled to a jury instruction which gives his or her theory of the case. Young v. State, 451 So. 2n 208 (Miss. 1984); De Silva v. State, 91 Miss. 776, 45 So. 611 (1908). Indeed, where there is serious doubt whether a requested jury instruction should be given, the doubt should be resolved in favor of the accused. Lenard v. State, 552 So. 2d. 93 (Miss. 1989); Wadford v. State, 385 So. 2d 951, 955 (Miss. 1980).

Refusal to grant such instructions is reversible error. The verdict in the case before the Court should be overturned.

III.

Prior to trial, the Court and the parties had a preparatory conference on the need to keep the proof from revealing to the jury that Appellant had had in her possession a marijuana cigarette, she having already been convicted of misdemeanor possession of the marijuana. The Court appeared to instruct the parties that the marijuana was not to be brought up during the trial (T-36):

MR. Harris: Your Honor, just don't want any issue of marijuana in this one.

THE COURT: All right. The Court, of course, will instruct - - not going to make 'em comment on it, but the Court has already been advised that the only issue is the cocaine. So I don't know any other way to do it, meaning I don't want to call attention to anything in front of the jury, so - -

MR. HARRIS: Right.

During the trial, Newton County Sheriff's investigator Toby Pinson testified for the prosecution as follows with the following objection, motion, and ruling (T-67, T-68):

Q. Okay. Tell us what happened as you were searching the vehicle?

- A. I went to search the vehicle to see if there was any alcoholic beverages in the vehicle. As I was looking in the vehicle, they had a purse in the vehicle, and inside the purse there was a cigarette case. And in plain view, you could see a rolled up - looked - believed to be a marijuana joint.
- Q. Okay. And -

MR. HARRIS: Your Honor, I'm going to object to that And move for a mistrial.

THE COURT: Objection is overruled, and the Motion for a Mistrial is overruled.

Pinson testified on direct examination about the marijuana cigarette in response to questions from the prosecutor (T-68, T-69):

- Q. (By Mr. Kilgore) Officer Pinson, what did she say to you at that point?
- A. She stated she understood her rights. I went and got the cigarette case and asked her was it her cigarette case. She stated that, it was. I asked her - I pulled out the marijuana joint and asked her was it hers and she said she forgot it was in there.
- Q. But you understood that to mean that it was hers?
- A. Yes, sir.

Appellant renewed his motion for a mistrial (T-73):

MR. HARRIS: Your Honor, the Defendant would move for a mistrial. We have gone to great lengths back in the back to discuss how we're going to separate this. She's charged with possession crack cocaine from the marijuana in the bag. How we're going to take it outside so the Crime Lab person can separate it and keep it separate and how we straightened out with the jury earlier that there were two counts she was charged with, when now there's only one. Because she's already been convicted of one count, Your Honor.

And we, now we have right before the jury that there was also a marijuana cigarette, which is a separate crime. Possession of marijuana. And the jury's aware of that, and so, Your Honor, for those reasons, we ask for a mistrial.

The argument on the motion continued to T-76:

MR. KILGORE: And that they were found in the exact same container, Your Honor, we think that that probative value is - -far outweighs the prejudicial value, in that it's part of the story - - part of the transaction that occurred.

THE COURT: Okay. All right. Your final argument.

MR. HARRIS: Your Honor, that can - - the problem he's talking about can be handled very easily by consultation with the witness about what can be gone into and what cannot be gone into. And as far as searching her purse, when you searched her purse, did you find something that caused you to inquire further with her, without having to go into what exactly was found.

The motion was again denied (T-79) and the following ensued:

MR. HARRIS: Well, Your Honor, the - - at this point in time, we would like to explain to the jurors, and it may be when my client takes the stand, what happened with this marijuana. And that encompasses the other trial. I think - - when it's, when it's brought out that she was found possessing marijuana, I think that is something the jury is going to want an explanation on.

The colloquy continued to T-86, T-87:

MR. HARRIS: Your Honor, am I allowed to discuss the fact that there was a previous trial and she was - - and she - - when she takes the stand, that she admitted previously that the marijuana was hers?

THE COURT: What does the State say to that?

MR. KILGORE: Your Honor, that falls squarely under 404, also. It's part of the same transaction as - - that's relevant.

THE COURT: Yeah, I - - the door, the proverbial door, the crack in the door. Now, the door's open, so the jury is entitled, at this point, it's probative for them to hear the whole story. And if they say, well, some other jury could not agree, then if that's a problem with the State, then that's the problem. So the answer would be yes.

and the colloquy continued (88, 89):

MR. KILGORE: Your Honor, quick question. We're not sure what the relevance of the finding of the jury on the cocaine charge would be. Why would that be probative of the current one, I mean, going into that aspect of it.

THE COURT: I'm not going to allow you to go into the jury verdict on the not guilty verdict on the cocaine.

You can talk about the prior trial, about the marijuana, the misdemeanor aspect but - -

MR. KILGORE: Your Honor, just for the record, it was not a not guilty verdict. It was a hung jury. So just for clarification.

THE COURT: Well, that's true. And I guess that would make it even more irrelevant. No decision. Okay, anything further?

III.

<u>A.</u>

THE COURT ERRED IN OVERRULING APPELLANT'S OBJECTION TO THE STATE INTRODUCING EVIDENCE THAT APPELLANT WAS IN POSSESSION OF A MARIJUANA CIGARETTE AND IN DENYING THE CONSEQUENT MOTION FOR MISTRIAL

In the pretrial conference the Court had ordered that evidence of the marijuana cigarette would not be introduced in the trial. When Pinson testified for the prosecution that he found the cigarette in Appellant's purse, Appellant objected and moved for a mistrial, overruled and denied.

This was error. Per M.R.E. 404(b) evidence of other crimes is inadmissible.

Prosecutors should not elicit such testimony to try a criminal defendant for all his crimes rather than only for the one for which he is on trial. Flowers v. State, 773 So. 2d 309

(Miss. 2000); Patton v. State, 209 Miss. 138 46 So. 2d 90, (1950); Skinner v. State, 198 Miss. 505, 23 So. 2d. 501 (1945).

Further, in reversing its holding on the admissibility of evidence about the marijuana cigarette, the Court may have misled Appellant's counsel into taking an inferior tack in the trial, denying Appellant a fair trial, on violation of the due process clauses of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution.

III.

<u>B.</u>

THE COURT ERRED IN GRANTING THE STATE'S REQUEST THAT THE MISTRIAL IN THE PRIOR TRIAL FOR INABILITY OF THE JURY TO REACH A VERDICT NOT BE ADMITTED INTO EVIDENCE

The indictment in the case before the Court charged Appellant with possession of a small amount of marijuana and a small amount of cocaine. In the prior trial on these two charges she was convicted of misdemeanor possession of marijuana (one marijuana cigarette), but a mistrial was declared on the cocaine charge because of the inability of the jury to arrive at a verdict.

In the trial of the case before the Court, on possession of cocaine, the Court overruled Appellant's objection to admissibility of evidence that Appellant was in possession of a marijuana cigarette, agreed to permit admission of evidence that Appellant had been convicted of possession of marijuana but denied Appellant the right to introduce evidence that the same jury had been unable to reach a verdict on the

possession of cocaine charge.

In refusing to permit introduction of evidence that the first trial resulted in a mistrial on the cocaine charge because the jurors could not agree on a verdict, the Court erred because the prior rulings "opened the door" to the topic of the prior trial. Further the result of the prior trial was relevant to the case before the Court because they arose from the same indictment and because both charges (possession of marijuana and cocaine) arose from the same indictment.

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