## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**DEBRAS. FIELD** 

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

NO. 2008-KA-0793

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

## **BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE**

# APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JOHN R. HENRY

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

#

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

# SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- 1. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN SENTENCING THE APPELLANT TO THE MAXIMUM TERM OF IMPRISONMENT
- 2. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING INSTRUCTION D-2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> It appears that the Appellant has attempted to argue an issue that he did not designate as an issue in his "Statement of Issues". Specifically, he has attempted to argue that the search of the truck was unreasonable, beginning at page 14 of his brief. Because he did not designate this issue in the "Statement of Issues", the Court should not entertain that claim. See Rule 28(a)(3) MRAP(No issue not distinctly identified shall be argued by counsel, except upon request of the Court, but the Court may, at its option, notice a plain error not identified or distinctly specified). The Court has not requested argument concerning the search, nor is plain error suggested by the record. The putative fourth issue asserted by the Appellant is not properly before the Court.

# 3. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ADMITTING EVIDENCE THAT THE APPELLANT WAS IN POSSESSION OF A MARIJUANA CIGARETTE

# 4. THAT THE SEARCH OF THE TRUCK WAS NOT UNREASONABLE

#### ARGUMENT

# 1. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN SENTENCING THE APPELLANT TO THE MAXIMUM TERM OF IMPRISONMENT

In the course of the sentencing hearing, the court noted that the Appellant had no prior felony convictions. The probation officer was also unaware of any pending charges against the Appellant that might result in felony convictions.

The court informed the Appellant that the maximum sentence for her felony was a term of imprisonment of eight years and that the minimum term was two years.

The Appellant stated that she was addicted to marijuana and alcohol. She stated that she had two convictions for driving under the influence of alcohol. She admitted that she had experimented with cocaine. She had been in rehabilitation. She stated that she had a son who was twenty one years of age and a daughter who was sixteen years of age. She stated that she earned \$200.00 a week as a caretaker of an elderly lady.

Having heard all this, the court told the Appellant that it had no choice but to sentence her to the maximum term of imprisonment. It explained that she would probably be released earlier than in eight years and expressed the hope that she would use the time to overcome her additions.

(R. Vol. 2, pp. 142 - 149).

The Appellant contends that the trial court erroneously believed that it was required to sentence her to the maximum term of imprisonment. The court clearly was not under that impression: it noted the minimum and maximum terms of imprisonment under Miss. Code Ann. Section 41-29-139(c)(1)(B) (Rev. 2005). The court's comment about having no choice, taken in

context, simply meant that it believed the maximum sentence was appropriate in view of the facts and testimony adduced during the sentencing hearing. The court clearly knew that it had discretion in what sentence to impose, within the confines of the statute.

The Appellant cites *United States v. Hurt*, 488 F.2d 970 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1974) with respect to sentencing issues under federal law. The sentence here was not a federal sentence, and federal sentencing issues are not relevant. In any event, given the fact that the court held a sentencing hearing, it can hardly be said that there was anything "inflexible" about the court's approach in arriving at a sentence for the Appellant. In this State, it is a matter left to the discretion of the sentencing judge as to what sentence should be imposed. A sentencing decision is not subject to appellate review, so long as the sentence imposed is within statutory limits. *Minor v. State*, 992 So.2d 664, 666 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008).

The Appellant then says that the sentence was disproportionate *a la Solem v. Helm*, 463 U.S. 277 (1983). The Appellant did not object to her sentence on this ground; nor did she attempt to produce evidence on the *Solem* factors. The proportionality claim raised here for the first time is barred for review for these reasons. *Robinson v. State*, 784 So.2d 966, 971 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000). No *Solem* analysis could be considered here, even if the Court were inclined to do so, in view of the fact that there was no evidence on the factors to be taken into consideration when undertaking a full *Solem* analysis.

The First Assignment of Error is without merit.

### 2. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING INSTRUCTION D-2

The Appellant sought an instruction which would have instructed the jury that she was a competent witness in her own behalf and that her testimony should not be disregarded simply because she was the accused. It then went on to instruction the jury that the Appellant was

clothed with the same mantel of credibility as all other witnesses, and that the jury were to give her testimony the same weight and credibility as they would with other witnesses in the light of the evidence. (R. Supp. Vol. 1). This instruction was refused by the trial court. (R. Vol. 2, pg. 124).

The Appellant asserts here that an accused is entitled to jury instructions on his theory of the case. That may well be true, where such instructions are supported by the evidence and are correct statements of law, but how D-2 is an instruction concerning the Appellant's theory of the case is a matter left unexplained by the Appellant. D-2 had nothing to do with a defense theory.

On the other hand, it is well established that instructions of this kind are not to be given.

E.g. Gates v. State, 936 So.2d 336, 338 (Miss. 2006); Outlaw v. State, 797 So.2d 918 (Miss. 2001).

Even if this State permitted an instruction such as this to be given, the form of the instruction in the case at bar was an incorrect, confusing or misleading one in that it would have informed the jury that it was "to give [the Appellant's testimony] the same weight and credibility you would with any other witness in the light of the evidence." It is certainly a jury's task to determine what weight and credibility to give to witnesses and their testimony. But the instruction here appears to attempt to say that the jury was required to give the Appellant and her testimony the same weight and credibility as the other witnesses. The jury, however, was under no such obligation. The instruction would have been properly refused for this reason as well.

The Second Assignment of Error is without merit.

# 3. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ADMITTING EVIDENCE THAT THE APPELLANT WAS IN POSSESSION OF A MARIJUANA CIGARETTE

It appears that there was some kind of an agreement or ruling, prior to the production of

evidence of the Appellant's guilt for possession of cocaine, concerning her possession of a marijuana cigarette. If so, it was quite obscure. Nonetheless, there was talk of transferring the cocaine into another evidence bag, in an attempt, apparently, to separate it from the marijuana cigarette. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 33 - 36).

In the course of the trial, though, the witness Pinson testified that he found a marijuana cigarette in the Appellant's purse. The Appellant objected and moved for a mistrial; the objection and motion for a mistrial were overruled. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 67 - 68).

As the defense began its cross-examination of Pinson, it moved for a mistrial again, asserting that the marijuana possession issue was a separate and distinct matter from the cocaine possession issue. (R. Vol. 2, pg. 73). The State responded that evidence of marijuana possession would be admissible under M.R.E 404(b) and because of the connection between the marijuana possession and cocaine possession. The State pointed out that it was the discovery of the marijuana that led to the discovery of the cocaine. The Appellant, apparently, had been previously convicted of possession of marijuana, but the State indicated that it had no intention of proving the conviction itself. After further discussion and argument, the court overruled the Appellant's motion for a mistrial. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 74 - 79).

At that point, the Appellant requested, apparently, that she be able to proved that the jury in a previous trial could not reach a verdict on the possession of cocaine charge, though it did convict her of the marijuana charge. We say apparently because it is none too clear what the defense was urging upon the trial court. The Appellant's argument in support of the admission of this evidence was, apparently, that the State, by admitting evidence of possession of marijuana, somehow "opened the door" to proof that the jury in the prior trial could not agree as to the Appellant's guilt for possession of cocaine, or maybe that it "opened the door" to the fact of

conviction for possession of marijuana. (R. Vol. Pp. 79 - 81; 86). While not clear, it appears that the trial court ruled that the Appellant could establish what she wanted to establish in this regard. (R. Vol. 2, pg. 87). What she wanted to establish may have been that she had previously admitted, in court, possession of marijuana, or that she had been so convicted, or perhaps that the jury in the previous trial could not agree as to the cocaine charge, or maybe all three.

But this was not the end of this peculiar discussion. The State then raised the issue of the relevance of the result of the previous trial with respect to possession of cocaine. To this, the defense responded that it was attempting to prevent the evidence concerning marijuana out of the trial. The defense then wandered off into some talk about prejudice. The trial court then decided that the result of the previous trial concerning possession of cocaine was irrelevant. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 88 - 89).

At long last, the Appellant cross -examined Pinson. However, nothing was mentioned about the result of the previous trial with respect to the marijuana or cocaine. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 89 - 92).

TESTIMONY THAT A MARIJUANA CIGARETTE WAS FOUND IN THE APPELLANT'S PURSE

The Appellant asserts that, prior to the production of evidence, the trial court ruled that the State would not be permitted to prove that a marijuana cigarette was found in the Appellant's purse. We do not agree that that is what the trial court ruled, though certainly there is a degree of ambiguity about the ruling. It appears to us that what the trial court was attempting to rule was that the fact of the conviction for possession of marijuana would not be admitted. To say otherwise would make the later ruling concerning the fact of possession in apparent conflict with the earlier ruling. In any event, it is a dispute of no importance.

The testimony, without conflict, was that the Appellant consented to a search of the truck. At the time, the deputy wanted to determine whether there were containers of alcohol in the truck. The Appellant's purse was in the truck, and was open, and as the deputy stated, the marijuana cigarette was in "plain view". When confronted with the marijuana cigarette, the Appellant effectively admitted possession of it. It was the discovery of this marijuana that prompted a further search of the cigarette case.

It was necessary to explain to the jury what prompted the deputy to search the cigarette case. The State had the right to present a logical, coherent story of the crime. Moreover, the possession of the marijuana and possession of cocaine was contemporaneous. This is not an instance in which some bad act or crime was temporally removed from the crime being prosecuted. The Appellant was simultaneously in possession of both drugs. Under these circumstances, there was no error in permitting the State to establish that the Appellant was in possession of marijuana. *Watson v. State*, 2007-KA-01747-COA (Miss. Ct. App., decided 25 November 2008, Not Yet Officially Reported)(State may prove another crime where, *inter alia*, the crime charged and crime offered are so connected as to constitute one transaction or closely related series of transactions or where necessary to tell the complete story of the crime).

In the case at bar, the evidence of the Appellant's possession of marijuana was necessary to explain the deputies actions subsequent to that discovery. In addition to this, since the possession of the marijuana occurred at the same time and the same place as possession of cocaine, the possession of these substances amounted to a single transaction. The evidence of the marijuana was a part of the *res gestae* of the crime of possession of cocaine.

The evidence was also admissible under rule 404(b). The Appellant, it will be recalled, testified that she knew nothing about the presence of cocaine in her cigarette case. The fact that

she was in possession of marijuana and that she admitted being in possession was probative on her knowledge of the presence of cocaine in her cigarette case.

THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO ADMIT EVIDENCE TO THE EFFECT THAT THE JURY IN THE APPELLANT'S PRIOR TRIAL COULD NOT REACH A VERDICT AS TO THE POSSESSION OF COCAINE COUNT OF THE INDICTMENT

The Appellant asserts that, because the trial court permitted the State to prove that the Appellant was in possession of marijuana, the door was opened to proof that the jury in the previous trial could not agree on a verdict on the possession of cocaine charge.

First of all, the "open door" doctrine is not applicable here. Under that rule, where the accused introduces evidence or testimony on a subject, he is said to have "opened the door" to otherwise inadmissible evidence concerning that subject. *Gunnell v. State*, 750 So.2d 1284 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999). Here, the defense did not "open the door" to evidence about possession of marijuana. What occurred was that the State introduced evidence, which the trial court determined to be admissible evidence. As demonstrated above, there was nothing improper about the admission of the evidence concerning possession of marijuana. Consequently, we completely fail to see how that evidence "opened the door" to admission of evidence concerning the result of the trial with respect to possession of cocaine.

Secondly, we fail to see any logic in the notion that the result of the previous trial vis a vis the cocaine charge became admissible for no better reason than that evidence was produced to show that the Appellant was in possession of marijuana. In fact, the idea seems to be a *non sequitur*. The issue was about the admissibility of the marijuana cigarette. That had nothing whatsoever to do with the fact that there had been a mistrial earlier concerning the cocaine charge.

Under M.R.E. 401, the result in the previous trial was simply irrelevant. It was probative

of nothing, in terms of the Appellant's guilt. The failure to agree upon a verdict could have been caused by any number of reasons having nothing to do with whether the State proved the Appellant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt at the first trial.

We have found no case directly on point on this issue – the issue being whether the fact that a jury failed to agree upon a verdict in a prior trial of an accused is admissible in a subsequent trial of that accused. However, *Garner v. State*, 856 So.2d 729 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003) is informative. In that decision, the accused attempted to establish that his co-defendant had been acquitted of the crime for they were charged. This Court, noting that the State may not attempt to bolster its case against a defendant by establishing that his co-defendant had been convicted of the crime charged against them, found no principled reason not to apply the same rule in the instance of an acquittal of a co- defendant.

Now, of course there is no co - defendant in the case at bar. But, in *Garner*, the Court pointed out several considerations which we believe are applicable here. The Court noted:

A jury trying a criminal case normally must sort through substantial amounts of evidence, some portions tending to indicate guilt and other portions tending to exonerate the defendant. In that situation, it would be essentially impossible to draw a direct link between the verdict of acquittal and any particular aspect of the proof. Even if it is assumed that the prior verdict speaks, in some indirect way, to that jury's assessment of the victim's credibility, it would be improper to afford the subsequent jury that information. To do that would, in effect, install the earlier jury as an advisory body offering its own view as to [the accused's] credibility and would tend to usurp, or at the very least, improperly influence the deliberations of the jury on issues that are solely within the province of the finders of fact.

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